• ORIGINAL • 

Li 
OEC 1.0 2003 

triv CLERK 

WILLIAM J. TAYLOR, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 5521 
723 South Third Street 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Phone: 7 2) 380-4199 
Fax: 	02) 380-4191 

Counsel for A 
GENE 

Bast 
ALLEN 

ØcEgv 
OEC 1 0 2003 

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT 
By 	  

DEPUTY CLERK 

DAVID J. ROGER, ESQ. 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar No. 477 
200 South Third Street 
Las Vegas, NV 8915 
(702) 455-4711 

FRANICIE SUE DEL PAPA, ESQ. 
Nevada Attorney General 
Nevada Bar No. 192 
100 North Carson Street 
Carson City, NV 89701 
(775) 684-1265 

Counsel for Respondent 
THE STATE OF NEVADA 

MAILED ON 
1.g la3  

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

2

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

A 	Whether the District Court erred in denying Allen's Motion to 

3 	 Withdraw his Plea of Guilty prior to sentencing. 

4 	B 	Whether Allen was denied effective assistance of counsel in the entry 

5 	 of his guilty plea. 

6 II STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A Nature of the Case: 

8 	This is an appeal from the denial of a Motion to Withdraw a Plea of Guilty.  

9 in a criminal case. The Defendant plead guilty to one count of Sexual Msault 

10 with a Minor under 14 years of age and one count of Lewdness with a child under 

11 14 years of age. The Defendant was sentenced to a minimum of five (5) years and 

12 a maximum of twenty (20) years on the first (1') count. He was sentenced to a 

13 minimum of ten (10) years and a maximum term of life on the second (2 11(1) count 

14 Both counts are riming concurrently. (J. Cony. at 1-2, App. at 110-111.) 

15 	B 	Course of Proceedings: 

16 	Defendant was arraigned and plead not guilty to numerous counts of sexual 

17 assault and lewdness with a minor. On September 18, 2002, after one witness 

18 testified, the Court adjourned the proceeding regarding an issue concerning a 

19 defense expert. The parties then negotiated possible case settlement. 

20 	Later that same day, Allen agreed to plead guilty. The Court questioned 

21 Allen concerning his understanding of the guilty plea agreement, but the Court 

22 apparently failed to recognize that the Defendant was not completely certain about 

23 the agreement into which he was entering. It was close to 6:00 p.m., and it had 

24 been a very long day for the Court and parties involved. A brief excerpt of some 

25 of the questions and answers between the Court and the Defendant are as follows: 

26 	THE COURT: 	Now, Sir, do you understand these negotiations are 

27 

28 



1 
	

binding on me? I can't change them. 

2 
	

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. I understand that 

3 
	

THE COURT: 	And that either side may withdraw from the 

4 	 negotiations if! do not follow this pie agreement? 

5 
	

THE DEFENDANT: I don't understand that, Sir. 

6 (Rep. Tr. Jury Trial - Guilt. Plea Agr. At 61, App. At 69.) 

7 	Later on, the Court attempted to explain to the Defendant that he was not 

8 eligible for parole or probation on Count I, when the State noted that Allen was 

9 not on probation for Count I or H, because he was stipulating to a prison term on 

10 Count II. The court tried to explain this, and the Defendant responded as follows: 

11 	THE DEFENDANT: Probation? 

12 
	

THE COURT: 	Right 

13 
	

MR. BANKS: 	You are not eligible. 

14 
	

THE DEFENDANT: Right. 

15 
	

THE COURT: 	And do you understand, this is the important 

16 
	

thing? 

17 
	

THE DEFENDANT: It's been a long day. 

18 (Id at 63, App. at 71.) 

19 
	

Despite these discrepancies in communication between everyone in Court 

20 that day, as well as the obvious fact that the guilty plea was not knowingly, 

21 voluntarily, and intelligently made by Allen, the Court accepted his plea of guilty. 

22 A little more than one month later, prior to sentencing, Allen expressed his desire 

23 to withdraw his plea and represent himself. 

24 
	

On December 5, 2002, the lower Court conducted a hearing as to whether 

25 Allen could represent himself and to address whether he should be allowed to 

26 withdraw his plea. The Court ruled that the Defendant could represent himself; 

27 
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however, the Motion to Withdraw his guilty plea was ultimately denied. (State's 

Opp'n Def.'s Mot. Withdr. Guilt. Plea at 3, App. at 78.) 

On April 1, 2003, the Court formally denied Allen's request to withdraw his 

plea, and the Court sentenced the Defendant accordingly. The Judgment was 

reduced to writing on April 7, 2003. This appeal therefore follows. (J. Cony. at 1- 

2, App. at 110-111.) 

HI STATEMENT OF THE FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES 

PRESENTED FOR REVIEW' 

Allen is charged with committing acts of sexual assault and lewdness with 

eight- (8-) year old Janna Taylor. Beginning on her eighth (8 1) birthday and 

continuing until she was approximately eleven (11), Taylor alleges that wshe was 

assaulted by her step-father, Defendant Allen. Taylor claimed that Allen would 

climb into bed with her and insert his penis into her mouth, vagina, and anus. This 

abuse allegedly ended when Taylor moved to Colorado. When she moved, Taylor 

reveal her claims of sexual abuse from Allen. Dr. Monica Knuesel examined 

Taylor and reported that she did not have a hymen. 

Allen previously plead guilty to sexual assault in 1992, when he kissed a 

nine-year old girl and fondled her vagina. He received probation for that offense. 

IV ARGUMENT 

A Whether the District Court Erred in Denying Allen's Motion to 

Withdraw his Plea of Guilty 

The question of a defendant's guilt or innocence is not included with a 

motion to withdraw a plea of guilty. Kercheval v. U.S.,  274 U.S. 220 at 224 

(1927); Hargrove v. State,  100 Nev. 498 at 502,686 P.2d 222 (1984); State V.  

Allen takes the factual summary from the State's Opposition below, as the facts are 

0 27 essentially not in dispute for the purposes of addressing the related issues. 
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Dist. Ct., 85 Nev. 381 at 385, 455 P.2d 923 (1969). 

2 	The validity of a defendant's guilty plea must be challenged, in the first 

3 instance, in the sentencing court by way of a motion to withdraw the plea or by 

4 way of a petition for post-conviction relief. Bryant v. State, 102 Nev. 268 at 272, 

5 721 P.2d 364 (1986). "[T]he test is essentially factual in nature, and is thus best 

6 suited to trial court review in the first instance." Id. 

7 	The Nevada Courts have clearly outlined the manner in which a plea 

8 agreement can be withdrawn: "[T]he burden [is] on the defendant to establish that 

9 his plea was not entered knowingly and intelligently" or that it was the product of 

10 coercion. Id.; Gardner v. State, 91 Nev. 443 at 446-47, 537 P.2d 469 (1975). The 

ii decision of the trial court to allow a defendant to withdraw his guilty plea "is 

12 discretionary and will not be reversed unless there has been a clear abuse of that 

13 discretion." Bryant at 272; State v. Adams, 94 Nev. 503 at 505, 581 P.2d 868 

14 (1978); State v. District Court, at 385;. 

15 	"[A]n order denying a post-conviction motion to withdraw a plea of guilty is 

16 appealable as an order 'refusing a new trial' within the meaning of NRS 177.015." 

17 Hargrove at 502. 

18 	A challenge to a guilty plea on the grounds that the record does not 

19 affirmatively show that it was knowingly and voluntarily made raises 

20 "constitutional questions which [the Nevada Supreme Court] has the power to 

21 address eve if raised for the first time on appeal." White v. State, 99 Nev. 760 at 

22 761, 670 P.2d 576 (1983). 

23 	The record in the reporter's transcript of Jury Trial - Guilty Plea Agreement 

24 clearly reflects that Mr. Allen was not wholly aware of that into which he was 

25 entering. During the discussion colloquy between the Court and Mr. Allen, the 

26 State, through Deputy District Attorney Craig Hendricks, or one of Mr. Allen's 
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two (2) attorneys, Steven M. Immerman or Jeffrey M. Banks, both from the Public 

Defenders Office, either interrupted or had to explain something or some aspect of 

the Judge's statements to Mr. Allen. This, in and of itself, does not establish that 

his plea was not entered willingly and intelligently. However, when this is read in 

light of the fact that the case was "negotiated" at the beginning of a jury trial, at 

the end of a long and clearly trying day for Mr. Allen, it becomes rather obvious 

that the plea was not knowingly and voluntarily entered by the Defendant. 

The State may respond that it is objectively reasonable for a criminal 

Defendant to understand statements made by the Court and the attorneys present 

and appreciate the nature and extent of the circumstances surrounding his guilty 

plea. However, the real test of whether a plea is voluntary and intelligent must 

turn on the facts and circumstances of each particular case. Taylor v. Warden, 96 

Nev. 272 at 274,607 P.2d 587 (1980). Thus, "[a] guilty plea induced by a 

mistaken belief that a binding plea agreement had been made is invalid even if it is 

the defendant's own attorney who is responsible for the defendant's mistaken 

belief." U.S. ex rel. Thurmond v Mancusi, 275 F.Supp 508 at 516 (E.D.N.Y. 

1967). "There is little merit in the ... contention that a subjective test of what the 

defendant believed ... is too difficult to apply. The state of a man's mind, like 

most other issues of fact, is decided on the basis of reasonable inferences drawn 

from the known surrounding facts and circumstances." U.S. ex rel. Thurmond  at 

518. After all, "the [whole] test [of whether a plea was voluntarily entered] is 

essentially factual in nature ..." Bryant at 272. 

Allen asserts that his plea was the product of coercion by his attorneys and a 

misunderstanding of the very evidence that was to be used against him. The 

District Court, at the very least, should have taken into account Allen's statement 

of mind not only during the pre-hearing itself, but also during the entire time the 
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Court interacted with this Defendant. The Court conducted a Faretta canvass on 

Mr. Allen to determine if he could represent himself on his motion to withdraw his 

guilty plea. While the judge determined that he was able to do so, he memorized 

the points made by counsel, Ms. Jennifer Boulton, to be available to Mr. Allen 

should he need counsel for his motion. 

Mr. Allen thereafter engaged in a valiant, yet somewhat pathetic, attempt to 

use appropriate legal authorities to withdraw his guilty plea. These effort were to 

no avail, and the Court denied his motion to withdraw his guilty plea. 

It is ultimately the responsibility of the District Court to establish a record 

which affirmatively demonstrates that a criminal defendant's pleas is knowingly 

and voluntarily entered. The law is clear: if a defendant does not knowingly and 

voluntarily enter into the plea agreement, then the Court must set aside the 

agreement. Ramsey v. State,  99 Nev. 264,661 P.2d 1292 (1983). 

In this case, the record does not even remotely indicate a knowingly and 

voluntarily entered plea agreement. The Court erred in not granting the 

Defendant's proper person motion to have his guilty plea withdrawn. 

The Nevada Revised Statutes contain specific provision regarding the 

acceptance and withdrawal of guilty pleas. NRS 174.035 precludes the Court 

from accepting a guilty plea "without first addressing the defendant personally and 

determining that the plea is made voluntarily and with an appropriate 

understanding of the nature of the charge and the consequences of the plea." 

NRS 176.165 allows a motion to withdraw a plea of guilty to be made "only 

before sentence is imposed or imposition of sentence is suspended?' The statute, 

however, creates an exception to this rule by allowing the trial court to permit a 

defendant to withdraw his guilty plea after sentencing in order "to correct manifest 

injustice." 
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1 	B 	Whether Allen was Denied Effective Assistance of Counsel in the 
2 	 Entry of his Guilty Plea 

3 	Allen contends that it is manifestly unjust for his plea of guilty to not be 
4 withdrawn, based on the above cited authorities. It is axiomatic that a guilty plea 

5 lacks the required voluntariness and understanding if entered on advice that fails 

6 to meet the minimum standard of effectiveness derived from the Sixth 

7 Amendment. Boyle v. Warden,  95 Nev. 888 at 890,603 P.2d 1068 (1979). 

8 	"To demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel, a convicted defendant 

9 must show both that his counsel's performance was deficient and that the deficient 

10 performance prejudiced his defense." Iaea v. Sum,  800 F.2d 861at 864 (9 th  Cir. 

11 1986); Strickland v. Washington,  466 U.S. 668 at 687 (1984). This two-part test 

12 "apples to challenges to guilty pleas based on ineffective assistance of counsel." 

13 Hill v. Lockhart,  474 U.S. 52 at 58 (1985). 

14 	To meet the first part of the test, a defendant who enters his guilty plea upon 

15 the advice of counsel must show that counsel's advice was not within the range of 

16 competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases. Id at 56. "[C]ounsel have a • 

17 duty to supply criminal defendants with necessary and accurate information." la 
18 at 865. To meet the second part of the test, the defendant "must show that there is 

19 a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded 

20 guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." Hill at 59. 

21 	To begin with, Defendant's trial counsel was not within the range of 

22 competence, because of the fact that counsel apparently had not even reviewed the 

23 discovery, or important parts of discovery, until meeting in the Judge's Chambers 

24 before the case went to trial! Additionally, trial counsel, according to Mr. Allen, 

25 focused almost exclusively on the defense expert's witness and his anticipated 

26 testimony. Moreover, there is no information whatsoever from the file that any 
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1 type of investigatory work was completed on the alleged victim, or her propensity 
2 for truthfulness or lack of truthfulness. All of these inadequacies led to counsel's 
3 advice of accepting the plea offer submitted by the state. Counsel's advice was 
4 below the level of competence demanded of criminal defense attorneys in such 
5 serious cases, and therefore, counsel's deficient performance clearly meets the 
6 first prong of the Strickland Test. Additionally, had counsel communicated 
7 proper discovery to their client, and had counsel throughly investigated this case, 
8 as was required by any reasonably competent attorney, Mr. Allen contends he 
9 never would have accepted the plea agreement submitted to him by the state. 

10 Based on this analysis, it is clear that Mr. Allen was denied effective assistance of 
11 counsel when he entered his plea of guilty. 
12 	C 	Evidentiary Hearing 
13 	When "something more than a naked allegation has been asserted, it is error 
14 to resolve the apparent factual dispute without granting the accused an evidentiary 
15 hearing." Gamble v. State, 95 Nev. 904 at 907,604 P.2d 335 (1979); Collins v.  
16 Warden, 91 Nev. 571 at 573, 540 P.2d 93 (1975); Vaillancourt v. Warden, 90 Nev. 
17 431 at 432, 529 P.2d 204 (1974). 

18 	Thus, "when a prisoner's allegations of a coerced plea are based on alleged 
19 occurences entirely outside the record, an evidentiary hearing is required." U.S. v.  
20 Espinoza, 841 F.2d 326 at 328 (9th  Cir 1988). 
21 	Allen's guilty plea lacks the required voluntariness and understanding, 
22 because it was entered in reliance on advice and representation that failed to meet 
23 the minimum standards of effectiveness derived from the Sixth Amendment. 
24 Boyle at 890. 

25 	Defendant Allen's counsel was ineffective• for the following reasons: 

26 	a. 	Allen Asserts that he was not advised that the numerous dismissed 
27 
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counts against him could be used by the sentencing judge in this 

matter. 

Defense counsel did not obtain discovery before trial. 

C. 	Gregory Denue, Court appointed counsel at the time of trial, did not 

advise Allen that, were he to accept the last minute plea offer from 

the State, that the5tate would nonetheless be able to use information 

or allegations concerning the remaining counts against him for 

sentencing. Allen asserts that he was completely unaware of this 

possibility, which would have caused him to refuse the plea 

agreement. 

d. 	Moreover, counsel did not even have adequate discovery prior to the 

time of trial! The State makes reference in its trial court opposition to 

Defendant's Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea that the defense 

attorneys "met with representatives of the State before trial to review 

the State's file." (State's Opposition to Defendant's Motion to 

Withdraw Guilty Plea, December 30, 2002, pages 5-6; Appendix at 

pages 80-81.) In other words, the State is claiming that defense 

counsel's "reviewing" of the file immediately before trial with • 

representatives of the State was sufficient to allow them to adequately 

prepare for Mr. Allen's trial. 

This Court must remember that the plea negotiations, which Mr. Allen 

asserts were foisted upon him at a very late hour after a jury had been impaneled 

to hear the charges against him, were entered into by his attorney, who obviously 

had not adequately prepared for Mr. Allen's defense. 

We have to agree with Mr. Banks or Mr. Immennan's knowledge that the 

facts of this case are not relevant. What is relevant is that these issues were 
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brought before the Court prior to the time of sentencing, yet the judge nevertheless 

denied Mr. Allen's Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea, claiming that it was done 

"knowingly and voluntarily". 

Based on the cumulative effect of all the facts set forth herein, it would be 

fundamentally unfair not to allow Mr. Allen to withdraw his plea. 

V CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, this Court should remand Allen's case and order 

that his previously entered plea of guilty be withdrawn. 

DATED this 	day of December, 2003. 
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every assertion in the brief regarding matters in the record to be supported by a