3 4 ORIGINAL 5 **GENE** ANTHONY ALLEN **AKA** ABDULIA USEF ALI, 6 Appellant, Case No. 41274 FILED 7 8 THE STATE OF NEVADA. 9 **JAN 0 8 2004** Respondent. 10 JANETTE M. BLOOM CLERK OF SUPREME COURT 11 DEPUTY CLERK **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF** 12 **Appeal From Judgment of Conviction** 13 Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County 14 15 DAVID ROGER Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #002781 WILLIAM J. TAYLOR, ESQ. Nevada Bar #5521 16 723 South Third Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 380-4199 Clark County Courthouse 200 South Third Street, Suite 701 17 Post Office Box 552212 18 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 455-4711 State of Nevada 19 20 **BRIAN SANDOVAL** Nevada Attorney Ge

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Defendant Allen was charged with numerous counts of sexual assault of a minor under 14 years of age, and lewdness with a child under 14, stemming from his repeated sexual molestation of his step-daughter, Janna Taylor. (Rt, 09/17/02, at 64-74). Starting on her eighth birthday, and continuing until she was approximately eleven years old, Janna Taylor was sexually molested by Defendant. (AA, at 85). Defendant repeatedly went into Janna's bed and inserted his penis into her mouth, vagina, and anus. (*Id.*, at 85-87). This abuse ended only when Janna moved to Colorado, and there, Janna revealed the abuse to relatives. (*Id.*, at 88-93). She was examined by Dr. Monica Kneusel, who noted that Janna did not have a hymen, which

1 was consistent with Janna having been sexually penetrated on numerous occasions. 2 (Id., at 96). Janua was so traumatized, angry and despondent that she eventually 3 became a ward of the state and received professional counseling. (Id., at 82, 100). 4 Defendant was eventually arrested after Colorado detectives contacted the Las Vegas 5 Metropolitan Police Department. (*Id.*, at 97-100). 6 Defendant had previously molested two other young girls. Esther Smith, a nine 7 year old girl, was molested by defendant in 1992. (Id., at 101-02). In that case, 8 Defendant kissed Esther and fondled her vagina. (*Id.*). In 1993, Defendant was staying at the residence of the family of Brandy 10 Deshazer, an eleven year old girl. (*Id*, at 102). One evening, Brandy was awakened 11 and found Defendant touching her legs and moving his hand toward her genital area. 12 (*Id.*, at 103). She jumped out of bed and told her parents, who immediately called the 13 police. (*Id*.). 14

In the instant case, Defendant pled guilty pursuant to plea negotiations at the end of the first day of testimony at his trial. (AA, at 66, 89).

### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

Ι

# THE COURT LACKS JURISDICTION TO HEAR DEFENDANT'S APPEAL UNDER NRAP 4(b)(1)

NRAP 4 states in pertinent part:

(b) Appeals in criminal cases
(1) In a criminal case, the notice of appeal by a defendant shall be filed in the district court within thirty (30) days after entry of judgment or order appealed from. A notice of appeal filed after the announcement of a decision, sentence or order **but before entry of** judgment or **order** shall be treated as filed after such entry and on the day thereof.

(Emphasis added).

Defendant couches his appeal as an appeal from judgment of conviction, but it is not. It is an appeal from the denial of his Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea. (Appellant's Opening Brief, at 6; Notice of Appeal, filed 04/14/03).

28

27

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

On January 22, 2003, the court entertained and denied Defendant's Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea. (RA, at 52-57, 60). But, the court has not yet executed an order memorializing its denial of Defendant's Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea.<sup>2</sup> Therefore, under NRAP 4, Defendant's appeal is premature, with jurisdiction not vesting in this Court until the order is entered.

II

# DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO WITHDRAW GUILTY PLEA

Under NRS 176.165, a guilty plea may be withdrawn after sentencing only to correct a manifest injustice. *Baal v. State*, 106 Nev. 69, 72, 787 P.2d 391, 394 (1990). *Baal* interpreted this provision to mean that manifest injustice cannot exist if a plea was **freely and voluntarily entered**. *Baal*, 106 Nev. at 72, 787 P.2d at 394. (Emphasis added).

Whether the guilty plea was knowingly and voluntarily entered, is determined by a review of the entire record, the totality of the facts and circumstances surrounding the defendant's plea. *Bryant v. State*, 102 Nev. at 271, 721 P.2d 367 (1986).; *see also Hudson v. State*, 117 Nev. 387, 22 P.3d 1154, 1160 (2001); *Freese v. State*, 116 Nev. 1097, 1104, 13 P.3d 442, 447 (2000); *Woods v. State*, 114 Nev. 468, 958 P.2d 91 (1998). A proper review looks to the record to examine the oral canvass, the plea agreement and the circumstances surrounding the execution of the agreement. *Freese*, 116 Nev. at 1106, 13 P.3d at 448.

Where the trial court sufficiently canvassed the defendant, determining that the defendant entered into the agreement knowingly and intelligently, the guilty plea was properly accepted. *Baal*, 106 Nev. at 72, 787 P.2d at 394; *see also Williams v. State*, 103 Nev. 227, 230, 737 P.2d 508, 510 (1987), *citing Bryant v. State*, 192 Nev. 258, 721 P.2d 364 (1986). And, where the defendant has expressed on the record that his

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The State can find no evidence that an order was ever executed and filed regarding the denial of Defendant's Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea.

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

plea is voluntary, he may not ordinarily repudiate that statement. Lundy v. Warden, 89 Nev. 419, 422, 514 P.2d 212, 213-14 (1973).

Furthermore, *Baal* held "[a] guilty plea is presumptively valid and the burden is upon appellant to show that the denial of a motion to withdraw the plea constituted a clear abuse of discretion". Baal, 106 Nev. at 72, 787 P.2d at 394; citing Wynn v. State, 96 Nev. 673, 675, 615 P.2d 946, 947 (1980). Absent a clear showing of abuse of discretion, this Court will not overturn a lower court's decision regarding the withdrawal of a plea. Barajas v. State, 115 Nev. 440, 442, 991 p.2d 474, 476 (1999); citing Bryant v. State, 102 Nev. 268, 272, 721 P.2d 364, 368 (1986).

Defendant alleges the district court erred in denying his Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea. (Appellant's Opening Brief, at 8-11). He alleges that he misunderstood the evidence against him. (Id., at 10). He asserts that he was not "wholly aware" of the plea agreement when he entered his plea. (Id., at 9). Defendant asserts that his plea is invalid because it was "the product of coercion by his attorneys". (Id., at 10).

However, these allegations are not supported by the record as it reflects that the court was cautious and thorough with what Defendant believed and understood before it accepted his plea. (AA, at 66-74, 89-99). Also, nothing in the record would indicate any type of coercion by his attorneys. In fact, the record indicates that defense counsel made efforts to ensure Defendant understood and agreed to the entire proceeding.

The record reads in pertinent part:

22

23

24

27

THE COURT:

Now. did this you read guilty plea

agreement before you signed it?

25 THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I did, sir.

26 THE COURT: Did you understand it before you signed it?

THE DEFENDANT:

Yes, I did, sir.

28 THE COURT: Do you think signing it is in your best interest?

7 8

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Did v

Did you sign it freely and voluntarily?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

(AA, at 67, 92)

The record proves that Defendant was thoroughly canvassed by the court with Defendant expressing his understanding of the agreement and his willingness to enter into the agreement. (AA, at 66-74, 89-99). He expressed to the court that he believed the plea agreement was in his best interest. (AA, at 67, 92). He stated that he read and understood the agreement before he signed it, and that he freely and voluntarily signed it. (*Id.*).

The court made sure that Defendant understood that the agreement was binding on the court, and that probation was not an option under the agreement. (*Id.*, at 70-71, 94-95). The court also made sure that Defendant understood that he would be subject to registering as a sex offender and to lifetime parole supervision. (*Id.*, at 72, 97).

Defendant admitted in open court that he committed the crimes and was guilty as charged. (*Id.*, at 73, 98). The court then stated that it found Defendant's plea "freely and voluntarily made", and therefore, accepted his guilty plea. (*Id.*, at 74, 99).

On January 22, 2003, the court entertained Defendant's Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea. (RA, at 52-57). The State opposed this motion by showing that Defendant did not receive ineffective assistance of counsel; his plea was not coerced; he did understand the nature and consequences of his plea; and he did understand what his sentence would be under the plea. (AA, at 78-87). At this hearing, Defendant's stand-by counsel reviewed, and attached a copy for the court's review, the transcript of the plea canvass. (RA, at 54-55). Defense counsel stated to the court that he could not see "any reason legally or factually to challenge the guilty plea". (Id., at 4). The court determined that Defendant's plea was valid and denied Defendant's motion. (Id., at 57, 60).

Certainly, the record shows Defendant's guilty plea was valid. Defendant failed to show that his guilty plea was not made knowingly and voluntarily. Defendant never offered evidence to overcome the *Baal* presumption of the validity of the plea. Furthermore, Defendant failed to show that the court abused its discretion by denying his motion. Clearly, the court did not err, or abuse its discretion, in denying Defendant's motion.

### III

# DEFENDANT WAS NOT DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL IN ENTRY OF HIS GUILTY PLEA

Defendant's burden to establish ineffective assistance of counsel is proving that he was denied "reasonably effective assistance" of counsel by satisfying the two-prong test of *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686-687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2063-2064 (1984); *see State v. Love*, 109 Nev. 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (1993). Under this test, Defendant must show first that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and second, that but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceedings would have been different. *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687-688, 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2065, 2068. Defendant must identify the acts or omissions of counsel that are the result of a lack of reasonable professional judgment. *Strickland*, at 690, 2066.

In considering whether Defendant's counsel has met this standard, the court should first determine whether counsel made a "sufficient inquiry into the information... pertinent to his client's case". *Doleman v. State*, 112 Nev. 843, 846, 921 P.2d 278, 280 (1996); *citing Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690-691, 104 S.Ct. at 2066. Once this decision is made, the court should consider whether counsel made "a reasonable strategy decision on how to proceed with his client's case". *Doleman*, 112 Nev. at 846, 921 P.2d at 280; *see also Ford v. State*, 105 Nev. 850, 784 P.2d 951 (1989); *citing Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690-691, 104 S.Ct. at 2066. Counsel's strategy decision is a "tactical" decision and will be "virtually unchallengeable absent

extraordinary circumstances". *Doleman*, 112 Nev. at 846, 921 P.2d at 280; *see also Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S.Ct. at 2066 (counsel strongly presumed to have made all decisions in the exercise of reasonable, professional judgment).

In analyzing counsel's performance, the court begins with the presumption that counsel offered effective assistance and then must determine whether Defendant has demonstrated, by "strong and convincing proof," that counsel was ineffective. *Homick v State*, 112 Nev. 304, 310, 913 P.2d 1280, 1285 (1996); *citing Lenz v. State*, 97 Nev. 65, 66, 624 P.2d 15, 16 (1981); *see also Lundy v. Warden, Nevada State Prison*, 89 Nev. 419, 422, 514 P.2d 212, 214 (1973).

The role of a court, in considering allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, is "not to pass upon the merits of the action not taken but to determine whether, under the particular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance". *Donovan v. State*, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711 (1978); *citing Cooper v. Fitzharris*, 551 F.2d 1162, 1166 (9th Cir. 1977). In essence, the court must "judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S.Ct. at 2066.

Defendant makes two claims of ineffective assistance by alleging: 1) his defense counsel, Mr. Jeffery Banks and Mr. Stephen Immerman, failed to obtain discovery before trial; and 2) that court appointed counsel, Mr. Gregory Denue, failed to inform him that the numerous dismissed counts could be used by the court at sentencing.<sup>3</sup> (Appellant's Opening Brief, at 13-14).

A. Defense Counsel Did Not Fail To Obtain Discovery Before Trial.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The State cannot find any references to Mr. Denue's appointment as trial defense counsel for Defendant in the record.

An examination of the totality of the circumstances reveals that defense counsel obviously obtained discovery prior to trial. Counsel filed at least six pretrial motions. (SA, at 77-80). These motions included an opposition to the State's motion to admit evidence of defendant's prior bad acts; a motion to dismiss certain counts in the information; a motion to preclude the State from referring to victim Janna Taylor as a "victim" at trial; a motion to conduct a psychological examination of the victim; a motion for discovery; and a motion to preclude the State from asking the defendant about a witness's veracity. (*Id.*). Furthermore, defense counsel secured an out of state expert witness to mitigate the impact of the State's medical evidence in this case. (AA, at 12). Clearly, defense counsels' preparations before trial proved that they were very familiar with all discovery before the trial began, and sought, via motion for discovery, any discoverable evidence that they may not have had at that time. (SA, at 77).

## B. Dismissed Counts Were Not Used By The Court In Defendant's Sentencing

Defendant alleges that he was misled and did not understand the circumstances surrounding the sentencing he would receive under the plea agreement. This allegation is also belied by the record where it reads in part:

THE COURT: And, do you understand that the State and the defense stipulate and agree that on Count I you will receive a 20-year sentence with a minimum of five years until parole eligibility begins, and on Count II, you will receive a life prison sentence with a minimum of ten years until parole eligibility begins?

Now, the parties further agree that you will not receive probation on Count II, and that Count I and II will run concurrently. Do you understand?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

1	THE COURT: That means the same time. So if I calculate this
2	correctly, you will become eligible for parole on both counts
3	when a minimum of ten years has been
4	MR. BANKS: That's correct, Judge
5	
6	MR. IMMERMAN: Your Honor, if I could make that one point
7	real clear. If, for some reason, this Court does not want to
8	follow the recommendation and take these two counts and run
9	them concurrently, he's allowed to withdraw and go to trial.
10	THE DEFENDANT: Yeah. Concurrent.
11	THE COURT: Absolutely.
12	Now let me explain to you what you were facing before you
13	entered this plea. Okay?
14	THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.
15	THE COURT: Before that you were, as to Count I, you could
16	have been sentenced to a period of life with parole eligibility
17	beginning at 20 years or for a definite term of 20 years with
18	parole eligibility beginning after five years. Do you understand
19	that?
20	THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.
21	THE COURT: Do you understand that as to Count II, you would be
22	sentenced to life with the possibility of parole after ten years have
23	been served? No discretion there.
24	THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.
25	THE COURT: Do you understand that, sir? Do you agree with
26	that?
27	THE DEFENDANT: Yeah. We don't have to read all of that, sir. I
28	really do understand. And, I really do understand.

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
1	THE COURT: So you do understand that you are not eligible for
2	probation for Count I?
3	
4	MS. WECKERLY: Actually, he's not eligible for probation on
5	Count I or Count II because he is stipulating to prison on Count II.
6	THE COURT: Well, I was getting to that. You're not eligible for
7	probation on Count II and I
8	THE DEFENDANT: Probation?
9	THE COURT: Right.
10	MR. BANKS: You're not eligible.
11	THE DEFENDANT: Right.
12	
13	(AA, at 68-71, 93-95).
14	Defendant's claim that he did not understand the sentence that he agreed to is
15	clearly contradicted by the record. He specifically stated, and repeated, that he
16	understood the sentencing consequences of his plea agreement.
17	Defendant's claim that his counsel was ineffective by failing to inform him that
18	the numerous dismissed counts could be used by the court at sentencing is clearly
19	erroneous. The record reflects that the court only sentenced Defendant on the two

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Defendant clearly fails to establish ineffective assistance of counsel under the Strickland standard. Defendant failed to show by "strong and convincing proof" that his counsel exhibited a lack of professional representation which fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. Defendant also failed to show, that even if counsel committed error, that there is a reasonable probability that the result of the

counts in the plea agreement to which he pled guilty; with no dismissed counts being

considered by the court. (RA, at 73-74). His counsel interrupted the court to clarify

and explain the sentencing to Defendant so that Defendant had a thorough

understanding of the consequences of his plea. (See supra).

1	proceedings would have been different. Therefore, Defendant's appeal should be								
2	dismissed.								
3	<u>CONCLUSION</u>								
4	Because Defendant's appeal is premature and fails to vest jurisdiction in this								
5	Court, it should be dismissed. On the merits, Defendant's appeal is not supported by								
6	the record. The Defendant failed to show that the district court committed error in								
7	denying Defendant's Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea, and failed to show that defense								
8	counsel offered ineffective assistance. Therefore, the decision of the district court								
9	should be affirmed and the Defendant's appeal should be DISMISSED.								
10	Dated this 7th day of January 2004.								
11	Respectfully submitted,								
12	DAVID ROGER Clark County District Attorney								
13	Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar # 002781								
14									
15									
16	BY John Rustin								
17 18	JAMES TUFTZLAND  Chief Deputy District Attorney  Nevada Bar #000439								
19	Office of the Clark County District Attorney								
20	Clark County Courthouse 200 South Third Street, Suite 701 Post Office Box 552212								
21	Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas Nevada 89155-2212								
22	Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 455-4711								
23									
24									
25									
26									
27									
28